DEC 3 0 2019

FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 19-0905

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

HOME INSPECTIONS OF VA AND WV, LLC,

Petitioner

v.

Interlocutory Appeal from an Order of the Circuit Court of Berkeley County (19-C-237)

JESSE HARDIN,

Respondent

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioner, Home Inspections of VA and WV, LLC

Joseph L. Caltrider (WV Bar #6870)
Counsel of Record
William L. Burner (WV Bar #12722)
BOWLES RICE LLP
Post Office Drawer 1419
Martinsburg, West Virginia 25402
(304) 264-4214
jcaltrider@bowlesrice.com
wburner@bowlesrice.com

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

BY REMOVING THE TERM "ARBITRATION" FROM THE PARTIES' ARBITRATION PROVISION, THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY ALTERED THE PARTIES' CONTRACT AND SUBSEQUENTLY ERRED BY FINDING THEIR ARBITRATION PROVISION AMBIGUOUS AND UNENFORCEABLE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a real estate transaction where Respondent, Jesse Hardin ("Mr. Hardin"), purchased certain improved real estate in Berkeley County, West Virginia ("the Property") from William and Sharon Paxson ("the Paxsons") on August 17, 2017. App. 5–6. Prior to his purchase, Mr. Hardin engaged Petitioner, Home Inspections of VA and WV, LLC ("Home Inspections"), to conduct a limited visual inspection of the Property on June 23, 2017. App. 75 & 79. Mr. Hardin's contract with Home Inspections included the following arbitration provision:

ARBITRATION: Any dispute concerning the interpretation of this agreement or arising from this inspection and report, except one for inspection fee payment, shall be resolved informally between the parties.

App. 75.

On June 21, 2019, Mr. Hardin filed a Complaint against the Paxsons and Home Inspections alleging, *inter alia*, breach of contract, negligence, and fraud. App. 5–31. Generally, Mr. Hardin contends the Property contains numerous undisclosed defects which were known, or

should have been known, to the Paxsons. *Id.* He also contends Home Inspections failed to report, or "adequately report," the defects, resulting in a breach of their contract and "professional negligence." App. 8–16.

On August 9, 2019, Home Inspections filed a motion to dismiss, or, alternatively, stay further judicial proceedings and compel arbitration. App. 143–51. Home Inspections argued the circuit court lacked jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1) and Mr. Hardin failed to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6) because their contract contained an enforceable arbitration provision. *Id*.

On August 26, 2019, Mr. Hardin filed his response and attached a self-serving affidavit, claiming their contract—the same contract he alleged Home Inspections breached—was an adhesion contract. App. 166. Mr. Hardin also disputed whether their contract contained an enforceable arbitration provision and successfully argued the circuit court should ignore the arbitration provision's heading — "ARBITRATION" — when determining the parties' intent. *Id*.

On September 3, 2019, Home Inspections filed its reply, arguing the court should disregard Mr. Hardin's self-serving affidavit and apply the plain language and intent of their bargained-for arbitration provision. App. 180–89.

On September 13, 2019, the circuit court denied Home Inspections' Motion to Dismiss. In support of its refusal to enforce the parties' arbitration provision, the circuit court observed "only the heading of the paragraph alludes to arbitration" and concluded it could not "find that by agreeing to resolve any dispute informally, the parties have mutually assented to be bound to arbitration when there is a lack of *any* term describing the arbitration process" App. 197. The circuit court further reasoned the parties' arbitration provision "fails to require the disputes to be resolved by binding arbitration, who the arbitrator would be, by what rules arbitration would be demanded and resolved and the finality and effect of submission to arbitration. If Home Inspections wanted arbitration, it had to clearly and unambiguously set forth those requirements" App. 199.

On September 18, 2019, Home Inspections moved the circuit court to stay proceedings pending appellate review. *See* App. 191–99; 201–02. On October 2, 2019, Home Inspections timely noticed its appeal. On October 4, 2019, the circuit court entered an order granting Home Inspections' motion to stay while it pursues this interlocutory appeal. App. 208–09.

¹ "An order denying a motion to compel arbitration is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the collateral order doctrine." Syl. pt. 1, Golden Eagle Res., II, L.L.C. v. Willow Run Energy, L.L.C., No. 18-0384, 2019 WL

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Home Inspections only asks this Court to enforce the terms of the parties' bargained-for contract, which expressly includes an arbirtation provision. Their arbitration provision is prominently written on page two, beginning with the word "ARBITRATION." Nevertheless, the circuit court explicitly disregarded this bolded, capitalized term because it was a heading, then determined the parties' arbitration provision was too ambiguous to be enforced. App. 197–98. Absent contrary language within a contract, headings are terms to be considered like any other and must be given their full effect in contractual interpretation. The circuit court clearly erred by disregarding the parties' intent plainly stated in bold and all capital letters – "ARBITRATION."

The circuit court also erroneously rejected the contract's appropriate characterization of arbitration as an informal resolution process, despite several United States Supreme Court cases that describe arbitration as an informal method of resolving disputes. Similarly, the circuit court erroneously equated the arbitration provision's silence on procedural methods with the absence of an agreement to arbitrate. The parties' contract

^{6258134 (}Nov. 19, 2019) (quoting Syl. pt. 1, *Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front*, 231 W. Va. 518, 745 S.E.2d 556 (2013)).

clearly and unambiguously contains an enforcable agreement to arbitrate; to find otherwise, the circuit court literally stripped the parties' arbitration provision of the word "ARBITRATION" and ignored their explicit intent.

Mr. Hardin attached an affidavit to his response to Home Inspections' motion. In its order, the circuit court relied extensively on Mr. Hardin's self-serving affidavit, which alleged what he believed the contract's terms meant *after* he signed it. The circuit court's consideration of matters outside the pleadings in this manner was wholly inappropriate under Rule 12. Assuming *arguendo* that the circuit court properly considered matters outside the pleadings, the alleged facts it relied upon from Mr. Hardin's affidavit are irrelevant to the only question before the circuit court: Does an enforcable arbitration provision exist? The circuit court's erroneous reliance upon Mr. Hardin's self-serving affidavit and arguments further demonstrates why its decision should be reversed.

With proper deference to West Virginia and Federal law establishing a clear preference for arbitration, and the parties' plain, unambiguous arbitration provision, this Court should reverse the circuit court's decision and enforce the parties' bargained-for contract. Mr. Hardin should not be permitted to enforce only those provisions of his contract with

Home Inspections that serve his purposes. His claims in the underlying matter are subject to arbitration under the contract he signed.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

the principle issues in this case have Because authoritatively decided by this Court in Syllabus Point 1, West Virginia Dep't of Health & Human Res. v. V.P., 241 W. Va. 478, 825 S.E.2d 806 (2019) (holding only matters contained in the pleadings may be considered on a 12(b)(6) motion); Syllabus Point 3, Schumacher Homes of Circleville, Inc. v. Spencer, 237 W. Va. 379, 787 S.E.2d 650 (2016) (holding the authority of a trial court is limited to threshold issue of whether a valid arbitration exists and governs the plaintiff's claims when a motion to compel arbitration is filed); Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C. v. Hickman, 236 W. Va. 421, 436, 781 S.E.2d 198, 213 (2015) (noting the liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements); Syllabus Point 5, New v. Gamestop, Inc., 232 W. Va. 564, 753 S.E.2d 62 (2013) (holding unambiguous written instruments expressing intent of parties are not subject to judicial construction or interpretation); State ex rel. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC v. Webster, 232 W. Va. 341, 752 S.E.2d 372 (2013) (quoting United States Supreme Court explaining courts must rigorously enforce arbitration agreements as written); Syllabus Point 9, State ex rel. Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Tucker, 229 W. Va. 486, 729 S.E.2d 808 (2012) (holding courts may not refuse to enforce valid arbitration agreements because they will lead to piecemeal litigation); and Syllabus Point 1, *Mut. Imp. Co. v. Merchants' & Bus. Men's Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 112 W. Va. 291, 164 S.E. 256 (1932) (holding arbitration is favored under the law), oral argument under Rule 18(a) is not necessary unless the Court determines other issues arising upon the record should be addressed. If the Court determines oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

BY REMOVING THE TERM "ARBITRATION" FROM THE PARTIES' ARBITRATION PROVISION, THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY ALTERED THE PARTIES' CONTRACT AND SUBSEQUENTLY ERRED BY FINDING THE ARBITRATION PROVISION AMBIGUOUS AND UNENFORCEABLE.

On June 23, 2017, Mr. Hardin executed a contract with Home Inspections for a "limited visual inspection" of the Property. App. 75. Their contract specifically included the following provision:

ARBITRATION: Any dispute concerning the interpretation of this agreement or arising from this inspection and report, except one for inspection fee payment, shall be resolved informally between the parties.

Id. Under clear West Virginia and Federal law, the circuit court should have granted Home Inspections' Motion to Dismiss, enforced this bargained-for

arbitration provision, and required the parties to arbitrate their dispute. "When an appeal from an order denying a motion to dismiss and to compel arbitration is properly before this Court, [its] review is *de novo*." Syl. pt. 1, *West Virginia CVS Pharmacy, LLC v. McDowell Pharmacy, Inc.*, 238 W. Va. 465, 796 S.E.2d 574 (2017). Accordingly, Home Inspections respectfully requests this Honorable Court to reverse the circuit court's decision and enforce the arbitration provision in the parties' contract.

A. The Circuit Court Erred by Removing the Term "ARBITRATION" from the Parties' Arbitration Provision.

The parties' arbitration provision begins with the word "ARBITRATION"; yet, the circuit court held, "reading this provision to mean that the parties have agreed to a binding arbitration of their disputes leads to an absurd result. To reach such a conclusion, one would need to look to headings in a contract to form the actual agreement of the parties" App. 198. There is no support in law to excise a key term from a contract simply because it is a heading.

i. Headings are terms in a contract to be given their plain meaning under longstanding legal principles established by this Court.

"In construing the terms of a contract," courts in West Virginia "are guided by the common-sense canons of contract interpretation." Fraternal Order of Police, Lodge No. 69 v. City of Fairmont, 196 W. Va. 97, 101, 468 S.E.2d 712, 716 (1996). Contracts are one of the oldest established areas of the law, dating back to the Ancient Greeks. See Plato, The Laws, Book 11, §23, Contracts. A relevant cannon in this case is expression unius est exclusion alterius, which means to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of the other. Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). The Court has long recognized this fundamental principle. "In the interpretation of written instruments 'the express mention of one thing implies exclusion of another, expressio unius est exclusio alterius " Syl. pt. 3, Bischoff v. Francesa, 133 W. Va. 474, 475, 56 S.E.2d 865, 866 (1949) (quoting Harbert v. Harrison Cty. Court, 129 W. Va. 54, 64, 39 S.E.2d 177, 186 (1946)). By including a provision in their contract entitled "ARBITRATION", Mr. Hardin and Home Inspections excluded litigation as a means of resolving their disputes.

This Court's "primary concern is to give effect to the plain meaning of the [contract] and, in doing so, [it should] construe all parts of the document together. [It] will not rewrite the terms of the [contract]; instead, [the court will] enforce it as written." Payne v. Weston, 195 W. Va. 502, 507, 466 S.E.2d 161, 166 (1995) (construing an insurance policy) (emphasis added). Indeed, "[i]t is not the right or province of a court to alter,

pervert or destroy the clear meaning and intent of the parties as expressed in unambiguous language in their written contract or to make a new or different contract for them." *Cotiga Dev. Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co.*, 147 W. Va. 484, 128 S.E.2d 626 (1962). This is precisely how the circuit court erred when it essentially removed the term "ARBITRATION" from the parties' arbitration provision.

The heading in the parties' contract is conspicuous; it clearly evidences their intent to arbitrate. What other intention could the bold, capitalized word "ARBITRATION" demonstrate? This Court recently considered and interpreted the meaning of a contract's provision according to its heading. See First Mercury Ins. Co., Inc. v. Russell, 237 W. Va. 733, 778–79, 806 S.E.2d 429, 434–35 (2017) (utilizing the heading in an insurance contract when analyzing whether it provided coverage). The circuit court should have done the same. It clearly erred when it ignored the heading of the parties' arbitration provision, then found the provision too ambiguous to be enforced.

ii. The circuit court never considered the parties' arbitration provision as written.

The circuit court, while ignoring the "ARBITRATION" heading, concluded the remainder of the parties' arbitration provision was insufficient to compel arbitration: "Examining the sparse reference to

'informal dispute' resolution cannot find or divine a binding agreement to arbitrate." App. 199. It is abundantly clear that the circuit court excised "ARBITRATION" from the arbitration provision, and subsequently concluded that no enforceable arbitration provision exists. The circuit court improperly altered the terms of the parties' contract in reaching its conclusion. See Gamestop, 232 W. Va. 574, 753 S.E.2d 72 (2013). Thus, the circuit court erred because it did not reject the enforceability of the parties' actual arbitration agreement; it instead rejected the enforceability of an altered version it created after removing the key term "ARBITRATION."

B. The Circuit Court Erred by Finding the Parties' Arbitration Provision Ambiguous.

If the circuit court had considered the parties' arbitration provision in its entirety, without ignoring the key term "ARBITRATION," there would have been no ambiguity. What else could Mr. Hardin and Home Inspections have bargained for in a paragraph beginning with the bold, capitalized word "ARBITRATION," followed by a sentence explaining that "any dispute" arising from their agreement "shall be resolved informally between the parties?" The parties clearly intended their disputes to be settled by arbitration.

i. Arbitration is an informal method of resolving disputes.

In support of its ambiguity determination, the circuit court erroneously found arbitration is not an informal method of resolving a dispute. This finding contradicts several United States Supreme Court cases that have repeatedly stated the opposite. *See* App. 197–98.

The Supreme Court has observed, "the principal advantage of arbitration [is] its informality." AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333, 348 (2011). "[T]he choice is between the adjudication of cases or controversies in courts with established procedures or even special statutory safeguards on the one hand and the settlement of them in the more informal arbitration tribunal on the other." United Steelworkers of Am. v. Warrior & Gulf Nav. Co., 363 U.S. 574, 578 (1960). "Indeed, it is the informality of arbitral procedure that enables it to function as an efficient, inexpensive, and expeditious means for dispute resolution." Alexander v. Gardner-Denver Co., 415 U.S. 36, 58 (1974). In fact, "the informal procedures which make arbitration so desirable in the context of contractual disputes are inadequate to develop a record for appellate review of statutory questions." Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc., 473 U.S. 614, 648 (1985). "And the informality of arbitral proceedings is itself desirable, reducing the cost and increasing the speed of dispute resolution." Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333, 345 (2011). To be clear, "the relative informality of arbitration is one of the chief reasons that parties select arbitration. 'Parties trad[e] the procedures and opportunity for review of the courtroom for the simplicity, informality, and expedition of arbitration." 14 Penn Plaza LLC v. Pyett, 556 U.S. 247, 269 (2009) (quoting Mitsubishi Motors Corp., at 628).

Given this unequivocal characterization of arbitration as "informal," the circuit court was clearly wrong to conclude arbitration is *not* an informal method of resolving disputes. Indeed, it is the primary method of binding, informal dispute resolution.

ii. Arbitration agreements need not include specific terms or processes to be valid and enforceable.

The circuit court bolstered its ambiguity determination by finding, "this provision does not include terms such as how are arbiters to be selected, how many arbiters will decide the issue, where arbitration will take place, by what rules and by whose authority and whether or not the arbiters' grant or denial of a reward [sic] is binding or appealable." App. 197. By requiring such specificity, the circuit court ignored the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"):

If in the agreement provision be made for a method of naming or appointing an arbitrator or arbitrators or an umpire, such method shall be followed; **but if no method be provided therein**, or if a method be provided and any party thereto shall fail to avail himself of such method, or if for any other reason

there shall be a lapse in the naming of an arbitrator or arbitrators or umpire, or in filling a vacancy, then upon the application of either party to the controversy the court shall designate and appoint an arbitrator or arbitrators or umpire, as the case may require, who shall act under the said agreement with the same force and effect as if he or they had been specifically named therein; and unless otherwise provided in the agreement the arbitration shall be by a single arbitrator.

9 U.S.C. § 5 (emphasis added).

Similarly, West Virginia Code § 55-10-13(a) provides, "[i]f the parties have not agreed on a method, the agreed method fails or an arbitrator appointed fails or is unable to act and a successor has not been appointed, the court, on motion of a party to the arbitration proceeding, shall appoint the arbitrator." W. Va. Code § 55-10-13. This Court has held that when "an arbitration agreement names a forum for arbitration that is unavailable or has failed for some reason, a court may appoint a substitute forum pursuant to section 5 of the Federal Arbitration Act" Syl. pt. 3, in part, *Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front*, 231 W. Va. 518, 745 S.E.2d 556 (2013).

The United States Congress and the West Virginia Legislature have explicitly provided statutory mechanisms to prevent arbitration agreements from becoming unenforceable if parties do not include an arbiter or method for selecting one, or either otherwise becomes unavailable. These legislative enactments illustrate the required preference for arbitration and

underscore the error of the circuit court's analysis, which contradicted clear public policy by requiring unnecessary specificity and failing to enforce the parties' arbitration provision.

Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court has rejected an argument, similar to the circuit court's reasoning, that silence as to costs and fees created a risk that a party would bear prohibitive arbitration costs: "The record reveals only the arbitration agreement's silence on the subject and that fact alone is plainly insufficient to render it unenforceable." *Green Tree Financial Corp.—Alabama v. Randolph*, 531 U.S. 79, 91 (2000). The *Green Tree* Court explained, "[t]o invalidate the agreement on that basis would undermine the liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements." *Id*. (citation and quotation omitted).

iii. The arbitration provision is not ambiguous when read as it was written in the parties' contract.

The circuit court altered the meaning and intent of the parties' contract, which was expressed in unambiguous language. This Court has long held that judicial re-drafting of parties' contracts is impermissible. *See* Syl. pt. 3, *Cotiga Development Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co.*, 147 W. Va. 484, 128 S.E.2d 626 (1962).

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