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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Where the parties have agreed to arbitrate a dispute between them, this Court has recognized that federal and state law will uphold such an agreement inasmuch as this conclusion is supported by strong public policy. To that end, arbitration agreements are construed no differently than any other contract. However, this Court cannot order arbitration unless it is satisfied, by application of state law to the purported arbitration agreement, that the parties have agreed to arbitrate. In this instance, the language of the Inspection Contract reveals that there was no such clear intent to arbitrate.

Here, Home Inspections claimed that its contract provision required dismissal and arbitration; Mr. Hardin disagreed. Severing the alleged arbitration clause from the contract, and applying state contract law, including giving the words used their plain and ordinary meaning, results in inconsistent terms. The word “arbitration”, no matter how large or bold the type-face used, is totally inconsistent with the remaining language of that provision whereby disputes between Home Inspections and Mr. Hardin were agreed to be “resolved informally between the parties.” Case law from other jurisdictions reveals that such language in an arbitration provision requiring disputes to be “resolved informally between the parties” was but a first step to be taken prior to the arbitration of those disputes as more fully explained in the arbitration provision. Home Inspections obviously chose not to

proceed beyond the initial attempt at informal resolution since nothing more was contained within its contract. To find otherwise, would, as found by the circuit court result in an absurd result.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Respondent believes that oral argument is not necessary under Rule 18(a) inasmuch as the facts and legal argument can be adequately presented in the parties' briefs and the record and the Court's decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. However, should this Honorable Court be of the opinion that oral argument would significantly aid its decisional process, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When an appeal from an order denying a motion to dismiss and compel arbitration is properly before [the Supreme Court of Appeals], the [Supreme Court of Appeals'] review is *de novo*.” Syl. Pt. 1, *W. Va. CVS Pharmacy LLC v. McDowell Pharmacy, Inc.*, 238 W. Va. 465, 795 S.E.2d 574 (2017). Further, this Court has the authority to “examine the circuit court’s interpretation of the parties’ Agreement.” *Hamden Coal, LLC v. Varney*, 240 W.Va. 284, 810 S.E.2d 286, 292 (2018) (citing *Zimmerer v. Romano*, 223 W. Va. 769, 777, 679 S.E.2d 601, 609 (2009) for the proposition that the Supreme Court of Appeals applies “a *de novo* standard of review to [a] circuit court’s interpretation of [a] contract.”).

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE PROVISION IN DISPUTE WAS NOT ONE REQUIRING ARBITRATION AND PROPERLY REFUSED TO ENFORCE THE SAME

The circuit court properly stated the roles of the FAA and state contract law in its August 27, 2019 Order which is the subject of this interlocutory appeal.

In determining whether the claimed “arbitration clause” is enforceable, the Court first looks to Section 2 of the Federal Arbitration Act (the “FAA”) which this Court has interpreted as follows:

Under the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 2, a written provision to settle by arbitration a controversy arising out of a contract that evidences a transaction affecting interstate commerce is valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, unless the provision is found to be invalid, revocable or unenforceable upon a ground that exists at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.

Syl. Pt. 4, *Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Services, Inc.*, 237 W. Va. 138, 785 S.E.2d 844 (2016) (quoting Syl. Pt 6, *Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp.*, 228 W.Va. 646, 724 S.E.2d 250 (2011) (“*Brown I*”), overruled on other grounds by *Marmet Health Care Center, Inc. v. Brown*, 565 U.S. 530, 132 S. Ct. 1201, 182 L.Ed.2d 42 (2012); *see also State ex rel. Richmond Am. Homes of W. Va. v. Sanders*, 228 W. Va. 125, 129, 717 S.E.2d 909, 913 (2011) (same). In *Parsons*, this Court acknowledged that under both federal and West Virginia law, a “strong public policy” exists which recognizes “arbitration as an expeditious and relatively inexpensive forum for dispute resolution.” *Parsons*, 237 W. Va. at 146, 785 S.E.2d at 852. The *Parsons* Court noted that it was “Congress’s goal in enacting the Federal Arbitration Act” to “place arbitration agreements ‘upon the same

footing as other contracts, where [they] belong.” *Id.*, 237 W. Va. at 147, 785 S.E.2d at 853, citing *Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 219, 105 S. Ct. 1238, 84 L. Ed. 2d 158 (1985) (quoting H.R.Rep. No. 96, 68th Cong., 1st Sess., 1 (1924)). The goal under the FAA “is for an arbitration agreement to be treated by courts like any other contract, nothing more, and nothing less. The FAA has no talismanic effect; it does not elevate arbitration clauses to a level of importance above all other contract terms.” *Brown I*, 228 W. Va. at 671, 724 S.E.2d at 275. Further, “[w]hile the Supreme Court has acknowledged a liberal federal policy favoring arbitration, it has also consistently held that § 2 of the FAA reflects the fundamental principle that arbitration is a matter of contract. Thus, a court may order arbitration only when it is satisfied that the parties agreed to arbitrate...[which is] resolved by application of state contract law.” *Lorenzo v. Prime Communications*, 806 F.3d 777, 781 (4th Cir. 2015) (citations omitted).

As this Court made clear in *G & G Builders, Inc. v. Lawson*, 238 W. Va. 280, 794 S.E.2d 1 (2016), another case relied upon by the circuit court, the Court must be “cognizant that a party cannot be compelled to arbitrate a claim or dispute absent an agreement to arbitrate.” *Id.*, 238 W. Va. at 284, 794 S.E.2d at 5. The *G & G Builders* Court further noted that under Section 2 of the FAA, “parties are only bound to arbitrate those issues that by clear and unmistakable writing they have agreed to arbitrate. An agreement to arbitrate will not be extended by construction or implication.” *Id.*, citing Syl. Pt. 10, *Brown I*. As set forth by this Court in *State ex rel. U-Haul Co. v. Zakaib*, 232 W. Va. 432, 752 S.E.2d 586 (2013), the reason that parties are only bound to arbitrate what they have clearly and

unmistakably agreed in writing to arbitrate “is that by agreeing to arbitrate a party waives in large part many of his normal rights under the procedural and substantive law of the State, and it would be unfair to infer such a significant waiver on the basis of anything less than a **clear intent**[.]” *Id.*, 232 W. Va. at 439, 752 S.E.2d at 593 (emphasis added), citing *In re. Marlene Indus. Corp.*, 45 N.Y.2d 327, 333-34, 380 N.E.2d 239,242, 408 N.Y.S.2d 410 (1978); see also *Mercury Constr. Corp. v. Moses H. Cone Mem’l Hosp.*, 656 F.2d 933, 939 (4th Cir. 1981) (to prevail on a motion to compel arbitration, the party seeking to arbitrate bears the burden of showing: “(1) [t]he making of the agreement and (2) the breach of the agreement to arbitrate.”); *State ex rel. United Asphalt Suppliers, Inc. v. Sanders*, 204 W. Va. 23, 28, 511 S.E.2d 134, 139 (1998) (“The policy favoring arbitration does not compel the court to require arbitration of disputes if arbitration was not the intent of the parties.”) (citation omitted). Thus, “the first task of a court asked to compel arbitration of a dispute is to determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate that dispute.” *G & G Builders*, 238 W. Va. at 284, 794 S.E.2d at 5, citing *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 473 U.S. 614, 626, 105 S. Ct. 3346, 87 L. Ed. 2d 444 (1985).

Although Home Inspections invokes the FAA and the attendant public policy in favor of enforcing agreements to arbitrate, Pet. Br. at 17-20, the law is clear that whether an arbitration agreement exists at all is a question of state law. See Syl. Pt. 4, *Ruckdeschel v. Falcon Drilling Co., LLC*, 225 W. Va. 450 (2010) (“When a trial court is required to rule upon a motion to compel arbitration pursuant to the [FAA], the authority of the trial court is limited to determining the threshold issues of (1) whether a valid arbitration agreement

exists between the parties; and (2) whether the claims averred by the plaintiff fall within the substantive scope of that arbitration agreement.” (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. TD Ameritrade, Inc. v. Kaufman*, 225 W.Va. 250 (2010)).

As respects the first issue, whether a valid arbitration agreement exists as between the parties, the court’s task centers around the agreement’s existence and not its substantive validity. *See Bluestem Brands, Inc. v. Shade*, 239 W. Va. 694, 699, 810 S.E.2d 749, 753 (2017) (“[A]n agreement to arbitrate must contain the elements required for proper formation of any contract.”). As noted in *Citizens Telecomm. Co. of W. Va. v Sheridan*, 239 W. Va. 67, 799 S.E.2d 144 (2017), while “arbitration provisions may not be subject to heightened scrutiny or notice requirements,...arbitration provisions are not entitled to standards more lax than any other contract provisions.” *Id.*, 239 W. Va. at 72, 799 S.E.2d at 149, citing Syl. Pt. 7, in part, *Brown I. Citizens Telecomm. Co. of W. Va. v Sheridan*, 239 W. Va. 67, 73. As this Court simplistically explained in *Schumacher Homes of Circleville, Inc. v. Spencer*, 237 W. Va. 379, 787 S.E.2d 650 (2016) (“Schumacher II”), “[t]he general tools for examining contracts are familiar to any first-year law student: **ambiguity**, coercion, duress, estoppel, fraud, impracticality, laches, lack of capacity, misrepresentation, mistake, mutuality of assent, unconscionability, undue influence, waiver, or even lack of offer, acceptance or consideration. If the contract defense exists under general state contract law principles, then it may be asserted to counter the claim that an arbitration agreement or a provision therein binds the parties.” *Id.*, 237 W. Va. at 391-92, 787 S.E.2d at 662-63 (emphasis added).

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED ALL PORTIONS OF THE ALLEGED “ARBITRATION PROVISION”

In the instant case, Home Inspections claimed that the alleged “arbitration provision” in the Inspection Contract required the dismissal of the civil action as to it to permit the issues raised by Mr. Hardin to proceed by arbitration. Mr. Hardin opposed arbitration. Given these opposing arguments, the circuit court properly looked to *Schumacher II* for guidance. There this Court found that

[w]hen a lawsuit is filed implicating an arbitration agreement, and a party to the agreement seeks to resist arbitration, the Supreme Court has interpreted the FAA to require application of the doctrine of ‘severability’ or ‘separability.’ The gist of the doctrine is that an arbitration clause in a larger contract must be carved out, severed from the larger contract, and examined separately. The doctrine ‘treats the arbitration clause as if it is a separate contract from the contract containing the arbitration clause, that is, the ‘container contract.’ Under the doctrine, arbitration clauses must be severed from the remainder of a contract, and must be tested separately under state contract law for validity and enforceability.

Schumacher II, 237 W.Va. at 387-88, 787 S.E.2d at 658-659. The *Schumacher II* Court further noted that “only if a party to a contract explicitly challenges the enforceability of an arbitration clause within the contract, as opposed to generally challenging the contract as a whole” does Article 2 of the FAA and the doctrine of severability permit a trial court “to consider the challenge to the arbitration clause.” *Id.*, 237 W. Va. at 388, 787 S.E.2d at 659 (citing to *Richmond American Homes*, 228 W. Va. at 129, 717 S.E.2d at 913). Mr. Hardin has only challenged the validity of the alleged “arbitration clause” in the Inspection Contract. His complaint incorporates the contract and that contract is the basis for his breach of contract claim against Home Inspections as well as, in part, his professional

negligence claim. Accordingly, the Petitioner's reliance upon the doctrine of equitable estoppel, App. Br. at 23, is misplaced and ignores *Schumacher II*.

In examining the alleged "arbitration clause" in the Inspection Contract, the circuit court properly looked to the "arbitration clause" in its entirety. The court did not "excise a key term", Pet. Br. at 8, from the Inspection Contract as Home Inspections contends. The circuit court found that the provision in question "anticipates that any disputes between the parties 'shall be resolved informally between the parties.'" App. 197. The circuit court did not ignore the word "arbitration." While the circuit court did note that "[o]nly the heading of the [alleged arbitration provision] alludes to arbitration", the court continued on to say that "[n]owhere in the above-quoted provision do the parties agree to an 'arbitration' of future disputes between them." *Id.* The circuit court further noted that "this provision does not include terms such as how are arbiters to be selected, how many arbiters will decide the issue, where arbitration will take place, by what rules and by whose authority and whether or not the arbiters' grant or denial of a reward is binding or appealable. The clause does not say that the informal resolution between the parties would be binding and exclusive of any other remedy." *Id.*

Home Inspections argues that it was incumbent upon the circuit court "to give effect to the plain meaning" of the Inspection Contract and to "construe all parts of the document together" rather than re-writing those terms as it claims was done by the circuit court. Mr. Hardin acknowledges that this fundamental rule of contract construction is evidenced by cases such as *Payne v. Weston*, 195 W. Va. 502, 466 S.E.2d 161 (1995), to which the

Petitioner has cited. Pet. Br. at 9. "A contract must be considered as a whole, effect being given, if possible, to all parts of the instrument." *Wood Coal Co. v. Little Beaver Mining Co.*, 145 W. Va. 653, 657, 116 S.E. 2d 394, 397 (1960). Further, "it is the safest and best mode of construction to give words, **free from ambiguity**, their plain and ordinary meaning." *Bass v. Coltelli-Rose*, 207 W. Va. 730, 733, 536 S.E.2d 494,497 (2000) (emphasis added) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, *Bennett v. Dove*, 166 W. Va. 772, 774, 277 S.E.2d 617, 619 (1981)). See also *Nisbet v. Watson*, 162 W. Va. 522, 530, 251 S.E.2d 774, 780 (1979) ("the language of a contract must be accorded its plain meaning.").

If the Court construes the alleged arbitration provision as a whole, then what is the plain meaning to be given two very contradictory terms as appear in this provision? While the word "arbitration" is used in the heading, the words which follow it clearly do not impart an intent that arbitration was intended. Rather, the remainder of the provision evidences an intent that the parties would resolve any dispute "informally between the parties."

It is an examination of the language following the word "arbitration" which the circuit court undertook. The circuit court looked to language in other cases similar to that in the Inspection Contract here – that disputes "shall be resolved informally between the parties" to show that the inclusion of such language in other actual arbitration agreements was only a first step prior to any arbitration of those disputes. Specifically, the circuit court looked to *Kramer v. Eagle Eye Home Inspections, Inc.*, 14 Neb. App. 691, 716 N.W.2d 749 (2006) (Home inspection contract contained the following language: "*In the event a*

dispute or claim should arise from the inspection or inspection report, it is agreed that this dispute or claim shall be resolved informally between the parties or by binding Arbitration under the ‘Construction Industry Arbitration Rules’ of the American Arbitration Association, and use as a gauge of performance the ‘Standards-of-Practice’ of the American Society of Home Inspectors (ASHI tm)’) (emphasis in original); *CUNA Mut. Ins. Soc’y v. Office & Prof’l Emples. Int’l Union, Local 39*, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 24120* (W.D., Wisc. 2004) (procedure in a collective bargaining agreement “required several attempts at informal resolution and, if these attempts were unsuccessful, allowed either party to appeal the grievance to arbitration”); *G&G Closed Circuit Events, LLC v. Castillo*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 42022*; 2017 WL 1079241 (N.D. Ill. 2017) (a DirecTV customer agreement contained an “Informal Resolution” which read “We will first try to resolve any Claim informally....neither of us may start a formal proceeding....for at least 60 days...” followed by a “Formal Resolution” which provided that if not resolved informally, any claim “will be resolved only by binding arbitration....conducted under the rules of JAMS...”).

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